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I. Summary

1) The Commission finds that Staff demonstrated that the Respondent violated 

the Commission's transportation rules.

II. Procedural History

{f 2) Following an inspection of a commercial motor vehicle (CMV) driven by 

James Harvey, operated by Speedy Maintenance Service, LLC (Respondent), and owned by 

Otis Stevens, Respondent was timely served with a Notice of Preliminary Determination 

(NPD) in accordance with Ohio Adm.Code 4901:2-7-12, providing notification that Staff 

intended to assess a $600 civil monetary forfeiture for a violation of 49 C.F.R. 390.21(b), for 

failing to display a carrier name or USDOT Number as required and for a violation of 49 

C.F.R. 392.9b(a), operating a commercial motor vehicle in interstate commerce without a 

USDOT Registration. The NPD also reflected several non-forfeiture violations for the 

Respondent, which include: 49 C.F.R. 393.95(a), requiring the CMV to be equipped with a 

fire extinguisher; 49 C.F.R. 393.95(f), requiring the CMV to be equipped with warning 

devices such as flares, cones, or reflective triangles; two separate violations of 49 C.F.R. 

393.75(c), requiring a tire tread depth of at least 2/32 of an inch; 49 C.F.R. 393.9(a), requiring 

operable rear identification lamps and license plate lamps; 49 C.F.R. 392.2, requiring mud 

flaps; and 49 C.F.R. 393.205(c), requiring that wheel nuts and bolts shall not be missing or 

loose. Additionally, the driver, Mr. Harvey was cited for violations, including: 49 C.F.R. 

396.17(c), requiring periodic inspection records; 49 C.F.R. 391.41(a), requiring a valid 

medical certificate while operating a property-carrying vehicle; and 49 C.F.R. 392.2, for a 

violation of R.C. 4510.21 A for a failure to pay a reinstatement fee on a driver's license.
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3) On July 27,2017, Respondent, through owner Otis Stevens, filed a request for 

an administrative hearing in accordance with Ohio Adm.Code 4901:2-7-13 regarding the 

carrier violations.

4} A prehearing conference was conducted on November 16,2017, and a hearing 

was held on February 13, 2018. At hearing. Inspectors Eric Weinman and Rod Moser 

appeared as witnesses for Staff, and Mr. Stevens appeared pro se and testified on his own 

behalf.

III. Law

{f 5} Under Ohio Adm.Code 4901:2-5-03(A), the Commission adopted certain 

provisions of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, 49 C.F.R. Sections 40, 42, 383, 

387, 390-397, to govern the transportation of persons or property in intrastate commerce 

within Ohio. Ohio Adm.Code 4901:2-5-03(B) and (C) require all motor carriers engaged in 

intrastate and interstate commerce in Ohio to operate in conformity with all federal 

regulations that have been adopted by the Commission. Ohio Adm.Code 4901:2-7-20(A) 

requires that, at hearing. Staff prove the occurrence of a violation by a preponderance of the 

evidence.

IV. Issues

6) The issue is whether Staff satisfied its burden to show, by a preponderance of 

the evidence, that Respondent violated Commission rules.

{f 7) Staff alleges that Respondent (1) failed to display a carrier name and USDOT 

number while Mr. Harvey was operating the CMV, (2) operated a CMV in interstate 

commerce without a USDOT registration, (3) failed to equip the CMV with a fire 

extinguisher, (4) failed to equip the CMV with a warning device, (5) operated a CMV with 

two separate tire treads with a depth of less than 2/32 of an inch, (6) operated a CMV with 

inoperable rear identification lamps and license plate lamps, (7) operated a CMV without 

mud flaps, and (8) operated a CMV with missing wheel nuts. Additionally, Staff alleges
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that the driver, Mr. Harvey operated a CMV without proof of periodic inspections of the 

CMV, failed to provide a valid medical certificate indicating that the operator is physically 

qualified to drive a CMV, and failed to pay a reinstatement fee on a driver's license. 

Respondent, through Mr. Stevens, disputes all of the carrier violations and asserts that Mr. 

Harvey was not operating a CMV in interstate commerce.

V. Summary of the Evidence

{f 8} Inspector Weinman testified that on May 23, 2017, he performed a level 2 

inspection on Respondent's CMV while in Hcimilton County, Ohio (Tr. at 8-9). Inspector 

Weinman stated that he was stationed half a mile north of the Ohio-Kentucky border and 

could visibly see vehicles passing through the Ohio-Kentucky border from where he was 

positioned. According to Inspector Weinman, he was looking for CMVs crossing the state 

line that did not have a USDOT number displayed on the vehicle. (Tr. at 7,20-21.) Inspector 

Weinman averred that he observed Respondent's vehicle cross state lines coming out of 

Kentucky and into Ohio on Interstate 275 (Tr. at 18). Inspector Weinman indicated that 

Respondent's vehicle came across the bridge from Kentucky and that there are no exits or 

on-ramps between the Ohio-Kentucky border and where he was stationed (Tr. at 21,28).

9} Inspector Weinman stated that Respondent's CMV caught his attention 

because the CMV displayed no apparent USDOT number and the CMV had no apparent 

mud flaps. At which point. Inspector Weinman followed Respondent's CMV for three miles 

and conducted a traffic stop. (Tr. at 20-21.) Inspector Weinman testified that he did not stop 

Respondent's vehicle immediately as it passed him because he desired to reach a safe 

stopping location for both himself and the driver (Tr. at 29-30). Inspector Weinman further 

indicated that the location of the stop did not occur at the Cincinnati Horseshoe Casino as 

represented in Staff Exhibit 1, but rather at Interstate 275 at milepost 69 (Tr. at 9-10, 30). 

Inspector Weinman testified that he was having technical difficulties with his report

generating software and Was unable to select the exact location of the stop in his report. He 

chose the Cincinnati Horseshoe Casino as a pre-populated location closest to the actual 

location of the stop. (Tr. at 9-10,30.) Further, Inspector Weinman indicated that he corrected
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the location on the driver's copy of the report and informed the driver and Respondent of 

what happened (Tr. at 10). Lastly, Inspector Weinman described this predicament in the 

inspection notes section within his report {Tr. at 10; Staff Ex. 1).

10} Upon stopping the CMV, Inspector Weinman indicated that he had a 

conversation with the driver, Mr. Harvey, who stated that he was driving from Cincinnati, 

Ohio, and was headed to Batavia, Ohio, and came into Kentucky via Interstate 471 and back 

into Ohio via Interstate 275. Inspector Weinman averred that this route is popular among 

CMV drivers because it is quicker and easier to travel on the interstate around Cincinnati, 

Ohio than other alternative routes. (Tr. at 19.) Inspector Weinman testified that he did not 

see a USDOT number displayed on the vehicle when the CMV passed him, and upon further 

inspection, discovered that there was no USDOT number present on the vehicle, and Speedy 

Maintenance was not registered with the FMCSA (Tr. at 17; Staff Ex. 1). Inspector Weinman 

maintained that CMVs in interstate commerce over the 10,001-pound gross vehicle weight 

rating are required to have a USDOT number and that Respondent's vehicle had a gross 

vehicle weight rating of 16,500 pounds (Tr. at 17-18; Staff Ex. 1; and Staff Ex. 2 at 2). 

Furthermore, Mr. Harvey was operating a CMV with a suspended license for a failure to 

pay a reinstatement fee (Tr. at 20). As for conducting a level 2 inspection. Inspector 

Weinman testified that it is within his discretion on what level of inspection he conducts, 

and that he conducted a level 2 inspection because of obvious vehicle violations such as 

damaged tires, lack of mud flaps, and inoperable lights (Tr. at 31-32).

11} While conducting a level 2 inspection. Inspector Weinman noted he found 

additional violations. First, Inspector Weinman explained that the CMV did not have a fire 

extinguisher on the vehicle, as required, nor did the CMV have any necessary warning 

devices, such as traffic cones, flares, or triangles, to warn traffic that the CMV is disabled 

(Tr. at 12-13). Regarding the tire treads. Inspector Weinman testified that he could tell that 

the CMV tires were worn and that they needed to be inspected further (Tr. at 13). According 

to Inspector Weinman, tire grooves are required to be at least 2/32 of an inch. On the left 

front steer. Inspector Weirunan measured the tread groove to be less than 1/32 of an inch.
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(Tr. at 14; Staff Ex. 2 at 3-6.) On the right front steer. Inspector Weinman measured a 1/32 

of an inch tread groove. Thus, Inspector Weinman submitted that both tires did not meet 

the standard. (Tr. at 14; Staff Ex. 2 at 3-6.) During the investigation. Inspector Weinman 

also observed inoperable required lamps on the rear of the CMV (Tr. at 14; Staff Ex. 2 at 7 

and 8). Inspector Weinman also discussed that, at the time the CMV passed him, he noticed 

the rear wheels were exposed, and upon completing his inspection, he observed that the left 

mud flap was pinned up and the right mud flap was missing (Tr. at 15-16; Staff Ex. 2 at 9- 

11). Lastly, Inspector Weinman noted that the front right steer axel had ten lug nuts and 

one of the lug nuts was missing a stud (Tr, at 16; Staff Ex. 2 at 13).

{f 12) Mr. Moser testified that he is employed at the Public Utilities Commission of 

Ohio as the Chief of the Compliance Section within the Transportation Department. Before 

his time with the Commission, Mr. Moser spent nearly 30 years with the Highway Patrol 

and is certified to conduct commercial vehicle inspections. Mr. Moser stated that 

Respondent received a NPD indicating two group 4 violations totaling $600. Mr. Moser 

averred that, in his opinion, the forfeiture amounts applied to Respondent had been 

accurately and reasonably determined. (Tr. at 39,42-43.)

13) Mr. Stevens testified that on May 23, 2017, he received a phone call from Mr. 

Harvey regarding the traffic stop, and he traveled to the scene (Tr. at 53). Mr. Stevens 

averred that Mr. Harvey did not violate the USDOT requirement because he was in Ohio 

and never traveled to Kentucky (Tr. at 54-55). According to Mr. Stevens, he was not aware 

that Mr. Harvey did not have a valid driver's license and that Mr. Harvey would not have 

been driving if he knew Mr. Harvey did not have a valid driver's license (Tr. at 56). 

Respondent further stated that he monitors his drivers' drives through daily logs and knows 

his drivers do not go into Kentucky (Tr. at 58). Mr. Stevens questions the accuracy of the 

entire driver and vehicle examination report because Mr. Harvey was not stopped at the 

Cincinnati Horseshoe Casino, as indicated on the report (Tr. at 59; Staff Ex. 1).
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VI. Commission Conclusion

{f 14) After reviewing the evidence, the Commission finds that Staff has 

demonstrated that (1) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 390.21(b) occurred for failing to display a 

carrier name or USDOT Number as required, (2) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 392.9b(a) occurred 

for operating a commercial motor vehicle in interstate commerce without a USDOT 

Registration, (3) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 393.95(a) occurred for failure to equip the CMV with 

a fire extinguisher, (4) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 393.95(f) occurred for failing to equip the CMV 

with warning devices such as flares or reflective triangles, (5) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 

396.17(c) occurred for failing to provide records of periodic inspection, (6) two separate 

violations of 49 C.F.R. 393.75(c) occurred for failing to have a tire tread depth of at least 2/32 

of an inch, (7) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 393.9(a) occurred for having inoperable lamps, (8) a 

violation of 49 C.F.R. 392.2 occurred for failing to have mud flaps, (9) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 

391.41(a) occurred for failing to have a valid medical certificate while operating a property

carrying vehicle, (10) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 392.2 occurred for a violation of R.C. 4510.21A 

for a failure to pay a reinstatement fee on a driver's license, and (11) a violation of 49 C.F.R. 

393.205(c) occurred for missing wheel nuts.

{f 15| Regarding the violations with a recommended forfeiture, we find there is 

sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the CMV was involved in interstate commerce 

without a USDOT registration. Initially, we note that Respondent acknowledges the CMV 

was not registered with the USDOT (Tr. At 57). Further, the record indicates that Inspector 

Weinman saw Respondent's vehicle cross state lines and that there are no exits or on-ramps 

between the Ohio-Kentucky border and where Inspector Weinman was stationed. 

Thereafter, the driver confirmed to Inspector Weinman that he had crossed over from 

Kentucky (Tr, At 19; Staff Ex. 1). While Mr.-Stevens insists that his driver was not traveling 

across state lines, Mr. Stevens was not present until after the CMV was pulled over (Tr. At 

55-56). We additionally find that the inspection report is credible and find no merit in 

Respondent's contention otherwise. The report sufficiently documented the driver 

information, CMV information, and the violations (Staff Ex. 1). While technical difficulties
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prevented Inspector Weinman from submitting the most accurate location of the inspection 

in the 'location' box of the report, contemporaneous notes on the report document the exact 

location (Staff Ex. 1). Further, as confirmed by Mr. Stevens, Inspector Weinman corrected 

the report by hand and provided a copy to Respondent (Tr. 22,60).

16} The Commission also finds that Staff sufficiently proved that the additional, 

non-forfeiture violations occurred. While the level of inspection that occurs is discretionary, 

Inspector Weinman stated the missing and pinned back mud flaps were obvious and 

warranted further examination of the CMV. Upon inspection. Inspector Weinman testified 

that he confirmed the missing mud flaps and witnessed missing lug nuts, missing fire 

extinguisher, missing warning devices, insufficient tire tread, and inoperable lights. 

Photographs taken during the inspection confirmed the improper mud flaps, missing lug 

nut, and worn tires (Staff Ex. 2). Respondent did not provide any evidence to dispute the 

violations.

{f 17} Accordingly, the Commission finds that sufficient evidence was presented to 

show that, more likely than not, the violations occurred. Thus, Respondent is directed to 

make payment of the $600 civil forfeiture within 60 days of this Opinion and Order by 

certified check or money order payable to "Treasurer, State of Ohio" and mailed or 

delivered to the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, Attention: CF Processing, 180 East 

Broad Street, 4th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3793. Case number 17-1676-TR-CVF and 

inspection number OH0593000644C should be written on the face of the certified check or 

money order to ensure proper credit.

VII. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

18} On May 23,2017, Inspector Weiman stopped and inspected a CMV driven by 

Mr. Harvey and owned by Respondent, because of an alleged violation of the Commission's 

transportation regulations, 49 C.F.R. 390.21(b), for failing to display a carrier name or 

USDOT Number as required, 49 C.F.R. 392.9b(a) for operating a commercial motor vehicle
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in interstate commerce without a USDOT Registration, and 49 C.F.R. 392.2 for failing to have 

mud flaps.

{5f 19) Respondent was timely served with an NPD recommending a civil forfeiture 

of $600 for violations of 49 C.F.R. 390.21(b) and 49 C.F.R. 392.9b(a), and non-civil forfeiture 

violations of 49 C.F.R. 393.95(a), 49 C.F.R. 393.95(f), 49 C.F.R. 396.17(c), 49 C.F.R. 393.75(c) 49 

C.F.R. 393.9(a), 49 C.F.R. 392.2,49 C.F.R. 391.41(a), 49 C.F.R. 392.2, and 49 C.F.R. 393.205(c).

20) A prehearing conference was conducted on November 16,2017, and a hearing 

was held on February 13,2018,

21) Ohio Adm.Code 4901:2-7-20 requires that, at hearing. Staff prove the 

occurrence of a violation by a preponderance of the evidence.

22) Based upon the record in this proceeding, the Commission finds that Staff has 

proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Respondent violated 49 C.F.R. 390.21(b), 

49 C.F.R. 392.9b(a), 49 C.F.R. 393.95(a), 49 C.F.R. 393.95(f), 49 C.F.R. 396.17(c), 49 C.F.R. 

393.75(c) 49 C.F.R. 393.9(a), 49 C.F.R. 392.2,49 C.F.R. 391.41(a), 49 C.F.R. 392.2, and 49 C.F.R. 

393.205(c).

23) Respondent should be assessed a $600 forfeiture for a violation of 49 C.F.R. 

390.21(b) and 49 C.F.R. 392.9b(a) and should pay the forfeiture within 60 days from the date 

of this Opinion and Order.

VIII. Order

24} It is, therefore.

25} ORDERED, That Respondent pay a civil forfeiture of $600 for violations of 49 

C.F.R. 390.21(b) and 49 C.F.R. 392.9b(a), within 60 days of this Opinion and Order. Payment 

shall be made by check or money order payable to the "'Treasurer, State of Ohio" and mailed 

or delivered to the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, Attention: CF Processing, 180 East 

Broad Street, 4th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3793. Case number 17-1676-TR-CVF and
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inspection number OH0593000644C should be written on the face of the check or money 

order. It is, further,

{f 26} ORDERED, That a copy of this Opinion and Order be served upon each party 

of record.
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